**RECEIVED**

**Mar 08 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

---

Court of Appeals Case No. 2020-000091

---

State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Shi Heme Raquan Price,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

GEOLY LAW FIRM  
Stephen D. Geoly  
222 Phoenix St.  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 223-3352

TINSLEY & TINSLEY, P.C.  
R. Jamison Tinsley Jr.  
109 Oak Ave.  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 223-0770  
Attorneys for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PRICE'S MOTION FOR IMMUNITY PURSUANT TO THE S.C. PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY ACT WHERE THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THAT PRICE WAS ATTACKED AND MET ALL THE ELEMENTS OF SELF-DEFENSE AND SECTIONS 16-11-440(A) AND (C)

## STATEMENT OF CASE

The State indicted Appellant Shi Heme Price ("Price") for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime with the grand jury issuing a true bill Sept. 6, 2019.<sup>1</sup> (R. pp. 6-7, 10-13.) The indictment rose from the death of Willie "Bo" Bell ("Bell") on May 27, 2018. Price filed a motion to determine immunity under Protection of Persons and Property Act on Feb. 28, 2019. (R. pp. 16-17.) The circuit court held a hearing on Price's motion June 10, 2019, during which it listened to live testimony. The circuit court issued an order dated June 21, 2019, and filed June 27, 2019, in which it denied Price's motion for immunity. (R. pp. 1-4.) On July 3, 2019, Price timely filed a motion to reconsider the circuit court's order. (R. p. 18.) The circuit court heard oral argument on the motion to reconsider on Jan. 7, 2020. Following the hearing, the circuit court again denied Price immunity. The case then proceeded to trial. During the trial, the parties reached a plea agreement. On Jan. 8, 2020, Price pleaded guilty to voluntary manslaughter and was sentenced to thirty years in prison suspended upon the service of four years in prison to be served with two years active in the S.C. Department of Corrections and two years on house arrest with a GPS monitor followed by five years of probation. R. p. 5.)

Price timely served and filed the notice of appeal Jan. 17, 2020. (R. p. 261.)

---

<sup>1</sup> The State also indicted Price for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime with the grand jury issuing a true bill Jan. 6, 2020.

## FACTS

On May 27, 2018, Price drove his car to Oakland Apartments in Abbeville where he was meeting Anthony Lavert Patterson (“Patterson”) who was going to look at installing speakers in Price’s car. (R. p. 39, lines 1-12; p. 74, lines 1-15; p. 103, lines 15-19.) Price’s friend Terrance Aiken (“Aiken”) was in his car, and Patterson was a passenger with Harold Johnson (“Johnson”) when they arrived at the parking lot for Patterson to look at the speaker’s in Price’s car. (R. p. 39, lines 18-25; p. 73, lines 5-19.) The two cars were parked beside each other in the complex’s parking lot. (R. p. 81, lines 12-16.) This parking lot was open to the public. (R. p. 81, lines 17-25.)

About ten minutes after Price got to the parking lot, Bell walked from a breezeway in the apartment complex across the parking lot towards Price and started an altercation with Price. (R. p. 73, lines 11-22; p. 75, line 21-p. 76, line 3; p. 108, lines 2-18.) Bell called Price derogatory names while saying he was not cool with Price (R. p. 76, lines 16-20; p. 153, line 23-p. 156, line 5.) Price responded by telling Bell to leave the car so Bell walked off (R. p. 76, lines 21-22; p. 154, lines 6-8.) Bell was shouting insults at Price and threatening Price by telling Price, “I am going to wet you up” and that he was going to kick Price’s ass. (R. p. 40, lines 15-22; p. 78, lines 20-24; p. 111, lines 24-25; p. 134, line 21-p. 135, line 2; p. 155, lines 8-12.) Multiple witnesses testified that “wetting someone up” is slang for shooting or stabbing someone. (R. p. 41, lines 4-19; p. 111, line 24-p. 112, l. 4.)

At that point, several people tried to calm Bell to diffuse the situation. (R. p. 126, lines 23-25; p. 142, line 19-p. 143, line 6.) The crowd of four to five men on the breezeway, on the other hand, boosted Bell to fight Price and agitated the situation. (R. p. 110, lines 8-13; p. 143, lines 7-

8.) Bell then approached Price's car a second time still making threats to physically harm Price and "wet him up." (R. p. 111, l. 24-p. 112, l. 8; p. 131, line 22-p. 132, line 15; p. 148, lines 3-10; p. 155, lines 8-12.) Bell's cousin Tobias Hughey testified that Bell had been off kilter that day looking for a fight since 10 a.m. and directed all of his anger and desire to fight at Price when he saw Price. (R. p. 139, line 4-p. 140, line 19; p. 149, line 16-p. 150, l. 25.)

Bell surprised Price by coming back to the car aggressively. (R. p. 155, lines 14-18.) Price was 20 years old at the time of the incident, weighed 130 to 135 pounds, and had never been in an adult fight before. (R. p. 153, lines 1-19.) Price did not want to fight Bell who was older, bigger, and a more experienced fighter. (R. p. 153, lines 1-19.) Patterson testified that Bell would have hurt Price if Bell had gotten his hands on Price. (R. p. 136, lines 17-19.) When Bell came around the front of Price's car aggressively while making threats, Price was sitting in the driver's seat of his un-cranked car with the window down. (R. p. 129, lines 6-17; p. 155, lines 14-24; Video.) Price did not have time to crank the car and drive off prior to Bell reaching the driver's side of the car. (R. p. 81, lines 11-16; p. 155, line 20-p. 156, l. 9; Video.) Bell continued saying he was going to wet Price up, kick Price's ass, and burn Price out of his hood. (R. p. 124, line 25-p. 125, line 24; p. 131, line 22-p. 132, line 15.) Price and Patterson each believed Price was in physical danger if Bell got to Price's window. (R. p. 136, lines 17-19, p. 123, lines 2-12.) When Bell got to the driver's side of Price's car, Price got out of the car and began backing up. (R. p. 48, line 13-p. 49, line 5; p. 80, line 25-p. 81, line 6; p. 99, lines 2-14; p. 159, line 12-p. 160, line 3; Video.) Price and Patterson were scared of Bell when Price got out of the car to defend himself as Bell aggressively approached. (R. p. 113, lines 13-25; p. 159, line 12-p. 160, line 6; p. 181, lines 5-16.) Price pulled out a fishing knife with a four-to-five-inch-long blade to show to Bell to try to stop Bell's attack. (R. p. 157, lines 21-24; p. 177, lines 4-22.) Bell was not deterred, though, and

lunged at Price and knocked Price's glasses off. (R. p. 157, line 4-p. 158, line 6; Video.) In the process of lunging at Price, Bell ran into the knife, and Price stabbed him. (R. p. 158, lines 5-13.) The altercation only lasted three seconds once Price exited of the car. (Video.) Bell then ran towards the people on the breezeway and asked them for a gun. (R. p. 178, line 24-p. 179, line 2; p. 147, lines 18-24.) Bell ultimately died from his injuries. The altercation was caught on the parking lot surveillance camera. (Video.)

Johnson, Aiken, Patterson, and Hughey all testified that Bell was the aggressor throughout the confrontation, and Price tried to deescalate things by telling Bell to leave the car and by backing up once he was out of the car. (R. p. 48, line 13-p. 49, line 5; p. 81, line 4-p. 82, line 2; p. 98, line 24-p. 99, line 14; p. 131, line 22- p. 132, line 23; p. 135, line 9-p. 136, line 7; p. 137, lines 10-17; p. 139, line 24-p. 141, line 3; p. 141, line 21-p. 142, line 4; p. 150, lines 13-25; p. 159, line 12-p. 160, l. 6.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A defendant's entitlement to immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act must be decided pretrial using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 116, 838 S.E.2d 491, 495 (2019) (citing State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 410-11, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011)). “This Court reviews an immunity determination for abuse of discretion.” Id. (citing State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013)). “A trial court abuses its discretion when its ruling is based on an error of law, or when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id. (citing State v. Jones, 416 S.C. 283, 290, 786 S.E.2d 132, 136 (2016)).

## ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PRICE IMMUNITY PURSUANT TO THE S.C. PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY ACT BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE SHOWS PRICE WAS ATTACKED AND MET ALL THE ELEMENTS OF SELF DEFENSE AND SECTIONS 16-11-440(A) AND (C).

A. Price proved the common law elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence so the trial court should have granted immunity.

When deciding a motion for immunity pursuant to the S.C. Protection of Persons and Property Act, which is the statutory adoption and extension of the common law Castle Doctrine, the trial court must first determine whether the defendant can prove the elements of common law self-defense. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267. A defendant must meet four elements to establish common law self-defense:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Dickey, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011).

### 1. Element Nos. 1 and 2.

The trial court correctly found that Price proved the first two elements of self-defense. (R. p. 4.) First, Price was without fault in bringing on the difficulty as all evidence presented at the immunity hearing was that Bell started the altercation by aggressively coming at Price while threatening Price. Price, on the other hand, tried to diffuse the situation by telling Bell to get away from him and the car. Second, Price believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or

sustaining serious bodily injury. Price testified that he was scared of Bell given that Bell was older, bigger, and a much more experienced fighter who was coming at him aggressively saying threatening things such as, “I’m going to wet you up.” Price understood this term to mean that Bell was going to shoot or stab him.

2. Element No. 3.

The trial court, however, committed reversible error in finding that Price failed to prove the third element of self-defense. (R. p. 4.) The third element requires the defendant to prove “a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief” or if the defendant is actually in such imminent danger that “the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life.” Id.

Price met his burden here as a reasonably prudent man would have believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or suffering serious bodily injury. As stated above, Price was much smaller than Bell as Price only weighed 130 to 135 pounds, was much younger than Bell as Price was only twenty, and Price had never been in an adult fight. Further, any reasonable person would have been in fear of imminent danger given that Bell made threats, which included “I’m going to wet you up” and then escalated the situation by sprinting around the car. Patterson, who was also in the car, testified that he was also scared when Bell charged around the car. Patterson also testified that Bell would have hurt Price if he had gotten to the window and gotten his hands on Price. These facts prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Price’s fear of imminent danger was reasonable.

The trial court erroneously based its ruling that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would not have believed he was in imminent danger on the fact that “[Price]

could have very easily stayed in his car, rolled up his window, and/or cranked his car.” (R. p. 4.) The trial court should not have factored these potential responses Price could have made while in the car as Bell made an aggressive charge at the car because the trial court should focus on the reasonableness of Price’s fear at the time Price struck the fatal blow. Inherent in the law of self-defense is the fact that fear must exist “at the time he struck the fatal blow.” See State v. McIntosh, 40 S.C. 349, 359, 18 S.E. 1033, 1038 (1894) (cited favorably by State v. Chambers, 310 S.C. 43, 425 S.E.2d 45 (Ct. App. 1992)) (overruled on other grounds by State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009)). For well more than a century, the test for whether a reasonable fear gives rise to self-defense has centered on the conditions at the time the defendant struck the fatal blow. State v. McGreer, 13 S.C. 464, 467 (1880). (“[T]he true test was the belief of the accused as to the necessity for his taking life, while we regard the true test to be the opinion of the jury, after hearing all the circumstances, whether the accused actually believed that such necessity existed, and whether, under all the circumstances surrounding the parties, at the time the violence was committed, he was warranted in forming such belief.” (emphasis added); see also State v. Jackson, 227 S.C. 271, 278, 87 S.E.2d 681, 684 (1955). ([T]hat at the time the defendant fired the fatal shot, he believed he was in imminent danger of losing his own life or of sustaining serious bodily harm and that a reasonable and prudent man.” (emphasis added).)

At the precise moment of the stabbing, Price had just gotten out of his car. (Video.) Bell had just made a threat that Price understood to mean Bell was going to shoot or stab him. Immediately after Price left his car, Bell lunged at him and knocked off his glasses. (Video.) The video shows the stabbing took place as Bell was actively assaulting and battering Price. Price, thus, has proved his fear of imminent danger from Bell was reasonable at the time he struck the fatal blow.

Even if the trial court properly considered things it believes Price could have done in the car seconds before the fatal blow, it erred in finding that a reasonably prudent man would not have shared Price's fear of imminent danger. Given that Bell was charging the car from close distance while threatening to wet Price up, which means stab or shoot Price, none of the trial court's proposed alternative actions would have abated the imminent danger. Staying in the car would have just made Price a sitting duck for the aggressively charging Bell. Price did not have enough time to crank the car and roll up his window given that Bell was charging in his direction from right in front of Price's car; the whole encounter only lasted about three-to-four seconds once Price exited his car as Bell began the charge. Even if the Court decides Price had time to crank his car and roll up his window, Price still had a reasonable fear of imminent danger of death because Bell was charging at him while making threats that Price understood to mean that Bell was going to shoot him. Cranking the car and rolling up the window would not have prevented Bell's imminent attack on Price. Price, therefore, met his burden of proving that his belief of imminent danger was reasonable.

3. Element No. 4.

While the trial court did not analyze the fourth element of self-defense, it ruled that it "cannot find that [Price] had no duty to retreat and had the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, given that [Price] elected to get out of his car with a knife to engage the victim." (R. p. 3.) The Court's ruling is error because Price met his burden of the fourth element of self-defense because he "had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance." Dickey, 394 S.C. at 499, 716 S.E.2d at 101.

Price tried to avoid the confrontation with Bell throughout the sequence. When Bell initially approached the automobile, Price told Bell to leave it. Then when Bell came back and charged at Price, Price did the reasonable thing by retreating as he got out of his car and backed up. Price reasonably pulled the small knife out to stop Bell's advance, but Bell continued his charge and lunged at Price. Bell's attack of Price is what caused the fatal blow to be struck rather than Price doing anything to escalate the situation. For the reasons argued above, the alternative actions the court found Price should have taken are irrelevant to the self-defense analysis. These alternative actions also would not have avoided the danger because Bell was charging at Price and threatening to shoot or stab him. Price, thus, has met his burden of proving he had no other probable means of avoiding the danger than to act as he did by getting out of his car and retreating from Bell.

The trial court, therefore, committed reversible error by failing to find that Price met his burden of proving the four elements of self-defense. The trial court should have granted Price immunity on this ground pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act.

B. If the Court determines Price failed to prove he retreated and avoided the danger, the Court should still grant him immunity pursuant to Section 16-11-440(C).

If the trial court determines that the defendant fails to prove he meets the elements of the duty to retreat then the trial court must analyze whether Section 16-11-440(C) applies. Glenn, 429 S.C. at 118-19, 838 S.E.2d at 496. The section states:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) (2015). “Generally, a defendant will be defaulted into satisfying Subsection (C) when the Castle Doctrine does not apply or he cannot otherwise show he was excused from the duty to retreat.” Glenn, 429 S.C. at 118-19, 838 S.E.2d at 496.

As stated above, Price was not engaged in an unlawful activity when Bell attacked Price in the parking lot where Price had the right to be. Even if Price had failed to prove he met the self-defense fourth element of avoiding the danger, this element is excused in the Section 16-11-440(C) analysis. The issue under this section is whether Price reasonably believed the use of force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself.

In State v. Oates, 421 S.C. 1, 803 S.E.2d 911 (Ct. App. 2017), the Court of Appeals whether the trial court properly denied immunity. Oates was attempting to tow the decedent’s vehicle when a dispute arose. Oates stated that Decedent pulled a weapon on him. The trial court found the following, “Assuming that there was an “attack” previously, there was no such event at the time of the shooting. In short, there was no force to be met. [Victim] was walking away from [Appellant] when he was shot five times in the back and once in the side.” Oates, 421 S.C. at 16, 803 S.E.2d at 919. In affirming the denial of immunity, the Court noted the following:

Even if the uncontroverted facts show Victim was still intent on preventing his minivan from being towed when he had his back turned to Appellant, this is not necessarily inconsistent with the circuit court’s perception that the aggression had abated at that precise moment.

Id. at 17, 803 S.E.2d at 920 (emphasis added). The proper inquiry under Section 16-11-440 (C), therefore, is whether Defendant had a reasonable fear at the precise moment that the fatal blow was struck.

Price’s belief of imminent danger was reasonable because he was being charged at from a close distance by a much older and larger man with more experience fighting who was threatening to shoot or stab him. Bell confirmed the reasonableness of Price’s fear of attack when he lunged

onto Price and knocked off Price's glasses. Unlike the retreating victim in Oates, at the precise moment Price delivered the deadly blow with his small knife, Bell was attacking him.

The trial court, therefore, committed reversible error in denying Price immunity pursuant to Section 16-11-440(C) because Price proved he was not engaged in a crime when Bell attacked Price in a place where Price had the right to be, and Price reasonably believed he needed to use force to prevent death or great bodily injury from Bell's attack.

C. If the Court determines Price failed to prove his fear of imminent danger was reasonable, the Court should still grant him immunity pursuant to Section 16-11-440(A).

If the trial court determines that the defendant fails to prove he meets the elements of the duty to retreat then the trial court must analyze whether Section 16-11-440(A) applies. Glenn, 429 S.C. at 118-19, 838 S.E.2d at 496. This section states:

A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-44-440(A) (2015) (emphasis added). This section gives the defendant an opportunity to receive immunity when he fails to prove that his fear of imminent danger was reasonable "by providing a presumption that the person's fear was reasonable under certain circumstances." Glenn, 429 S.C. at 118, 838 S.E.2d at 496.

Based upon the trial court's framing of events and reasoning, the trial court should have granted Price immunity pursuant to Section 16-44-440(A). The trial court found that Price's fear

was not reasonable because “[Price] could have very easily stayed inside his car, rolled up his window and/or cranked his car.” (R. p. 4.) The use of the term “stayed” by the trial court subsumes a finding that Bell’s attack began while Price was still inside his vehicle.

Price was occupying his vehicle when Bell approached in an aggressive manner after making a threat to Price that Price understood as a threat to shoot him or stab him. When Bell began his charge from the front of Price’s car at Price toward Price’s open window, Bell was in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering Price’s car. Price believed that if Bell made it to his car window, Price was done. (R. p. 156, lines 5-15.) Based upon Bell’s threats and Bell’s aggressive manner in approaching the open window, Price had reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry was in the process of occurring.