RECEIVED

Mar 22 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Abbeville County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-000091

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

SHI HEME RAQUAN PRICE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 842-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant waived any issue he may have had with the circuit court judge’s ruling on his pre-trial immunity claim by subsequently entering an unconditional guilty plea and readily admitting he was criminally responsible for fatally stabbing his unarmed victim and, therefore, cannot now properly raise a challenge to the propriety of the circuit court judge’s immunity ruling on appeal.

Appellant contends the circuit court judge erred by finding he was not entitled to immunity from prosecution pursuant to the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act (“the Act”). In support of that contention, Appellant maintains he did actually establish all the required elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence despite the circuit court judge’s factual determination to the contrary. Additionally, Appellant maintains Section 16-11-440(C) of the Act was applicable because he was attacked in a place where he had a right to be and purportedly reasonably believed he needed to use deadly force in order to prevent death or great bodily injury. Furthermore, Appellant maintains the presumption of reasonable fear established by Section 16-11-440(A) of the Act was applicable because the victim was purportedly in the process of unlawfully or forcibly entering his vehicle at the time of the incident. However, in making those particular arguments, Appellant entirely ignores the fact he waived any issue he may have had concerning the propriety of the circuit court judge’s ruling on his immunity claim by subsequently entering an unconditional guilty plea and admitting he was criminally responsible for fatally stabbing his unarmed victim. Accordingly, Appellant cannot now appropriately challenge the propriety of the circuit court judge’s immunity ruling on appeal in light of his entry of a valid—and unchallenged—guilty plea to the criminal offense of voluntary manslaughter.³ Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

³ Notably, through his notice of appeal, Appellant has expressly affirmed he “is not appealing the guilty plea.” (R. pp. 261-262).

When charged with a crime, a criminal defendant may choose to—and has a right to—enter a guilty plea to the offense.⁴ See State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 597, 211 S.E.2d 889, 890 (1975) (“Of course it is the prerogative of any person to waive his rights, confess, and plead guilty, under judicially defined safeguards, which are adequately enforced.”). By entering a guilty plea in South Carolina, a criminal defendant admits all elements of the charged offense, waives all other non-jurisdictional defects and defenses, and leaves open for review *only* the sufficiency of the indictment. State v. Thomason, 341 S.C. 524, 526, 534 S.E.2d 708, 710 (Ct. App. 2000). As a result, “[a] defendant who pleads guilty usually may not later raise independent claims of constitutional violations.” Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 523, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999). In fact, once a guilty plea has been entered, nothing remains but for a circuit court judge to enter judgment against the defendant and determine the appropriate punishment for the admitted crime. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969) (“A plea of guilty is more than a confession which admits that the accused did various acts; it is itself a conviction; nothing remains but to give judgment and determine punishment.”). Thus, a defendant who pleads guilty following an unsuccessful attempt to obtain immunity cannot validly appeal a ruling denying immunity once such a plea has been entered. State v. Sims, 423 S.C. 397, 402, 814 S.E.2d 632, 634 (Ct. App. 2018).

In the case sub judice, Appellant sought immunity from prosecution prior to trial, and the circuit court judge rejected Appellant’s claim of immunity. Thereafter, following the circuit court judge’s immunity ruling, Appellant knowingly and voluntarily elected to enter a guilty plea to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. In entering that guilty plea, Appellant did *not* improperly condition his admission of guilt on an ability to appeal the circuit court

⁴ Although a defendant has a right to plead guilty, a trial judge is under no absolute obligation to accept such a plea. Reed, 333 S.C. at 685, 511 S.E.2d at 401.

judge's denial of his immunity claim or on any other ground. See Easter v. State, 355 S.C. 79, 81, 584 S.E.2d 117, 119 (2003) ("To be valid, a guilty plea must be unconditional."); cf. State v. Downs, 361 S.C. 141, 146, 604 S.E.2d 377, 379-380 (2004) (finding Downs's guilty plea was unconditional because Downs "never attempted to reserve the right to later deny his guilt"). Instead, Appellant solemnly admitted he was criminally responsible for fatally stabbing Victim, which was an admission substantively inconsistent with his earlier claim of having legal justification for the same stabbing, and further specifically acknowledged he was relinquishing his ability to continue pursuing his self-defense claim. Cf. Sims, 423 S.C. at 400, 814 S.E.2d at 633 ("[Sims] does not—and could not—deny that his guilty plea operated as an admission of the conduct alleged in the indictment."). Therefore, by unconditionally admitting he was guilty of the crime of voluntary manslaughter, Appellant waived any defects with his case and any defenses he may have had to his offense, including his claim of entitlement to immunity from prosecution. See Vogel v. City of Myrtle Beach, 291 S.C. 229, 231, 353 S.E.2d 137, 138 (1987) ("A plea of guilty constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and defenses, including claims of violations of constitutional rights prior to the plea. *It conclusively disposes of all prior issues* including independent claims of deprivations of constitutional rights." (emphasis added and citations omitted)). Accordingly, consistent with what this Court expressly recognized nearly two years before Appellant entered his guilty plea, Appellant's challenge to the circuit court judge's pre-trial denial of immunity was waived and, thus, cannot now appropriately be considered on appeal.⁵ See Sims, 423 S.C. at 402, 814 S.E.2d at 634 (instructing the viability of

⁵ Notwithstanding the fact Appellant cannot properly challenge the immunity ruling in light of his entry of a guilty plea, the circuit court judge—who was solely responsible for weighing the evidence and making the relevant factual findings from it when ruling on the immunity issue—did not abuse his discretion by finding Appellant failed to establish entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. See State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d

an immunity claim ends with the entry of a guilty plea); cf. Rice v. State, 585 S.W.2d 488, 494 (Mo. 1979) (“[Rice] waived his right to litigate the issue of self-defense when he entered his guilty plea.”). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

564, 569 (2019) (explaining “the court must sit as the fact-finding in [an immunity] hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act”). That is true because the circuit court judge reached a factually-supported conclusion Appellant—who repeatedly stabbed his unarmed victim with a hunting knife after simply being punched—failed to establish he was in reasonable fear of death or great bodily injury at the time he used deadly force against Victim, which Appellant necessarily had to do in order to be able to validly assert a self-defense claim. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) (permitting a person who is attacked in another place he has a right to be to stand his ground and meet force with force so long as he *reasonably* believed the use of deadly force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury or to prevent the commission of a violent crime); State v. Harvey, 110 S.C. 274, 277, 96 S.E. 399, 400 (1918) (instructing a person may not employ deadly force in self-defense unless there is a reasonable necessity to kill even if the other elements of self-defense are present); cf. State v. Mincey, 14 So. 3d 613, 616 (La. Ct. App. 2009) (holding a rational factfinder could have concluded Mincey did not kill his victim in self-defense because “responding to an oncoming punch by shooting the other person in the chest is an excessive response”); Lambert v. State, 519 A.2d 1340, 1346 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1987) (recognizing “the question whether the force used in a given case was unreasonable is usually one for the trier of fact” and concluding Lambert was *not* entitled to have the issue of self-defense submitted to the jury because he used a knife against an unarmed victim and the victim’s initial unarmed attack upon him “may have afforded a reasonable basis for a conclusion that the victim intended to inflict *some* harm” but “did not provide a reasonable basis for the belief he intended to inflict serious bodily harm or death or that deadly force was needed to prevent such harm”). Likewise, since Appellant voluntarily exited his vehicle prior to the stabbing, the circuit court judge correctly concluded the presumption established by Section 16-11-440(A) of the Act was not applicable since nothing established Victim was in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering an occupied vehicle, had already done so, or removed or was attempting to remove another person against his will from an occupied vehicle at the time deadly force was employed. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A) (establishing a presumption of reasonableness *when* the person against whom deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering or has unlawfully or forcibly entered an occupied vehicle or is attempting to remove another person against his will from an occupied vehicle); cf. Glenn, 429 S.C. at 122, 838 S.E.2d at 498 (“Subsection 16-11-440(A) . . . does not apply to Glenn for the same reason as in Scott—that the assailant was not in the process of unlawfully or forcefully entering a dwelling or residence.” (internal quotations omitted)). Accordingly, even if the immunity issue had not been waived, there nonetheless would have been no proper basis upon which to reverse that ruling on appeal. See State v. Scott, 424 S.C. 463, 471, 819 S.E.2d 116, 119 (2018) (“Because those findings are supported by the evidence, our standard of review requires that we uphold them.”).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.